### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## ALEX SINK, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, ETC.

Petitioners,

CASE NO: SC10-1319/ SC10-1317

vs.

1<sup>st</sup> DCA Case No.: 1D10-2978/1D10-2972

Lower Tribunal No.: 2009-CA-001386

ROBERT M. ERVIN, ET AL.

Respondents.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER ALEX SINK

Richard T. Donelan, Jr. Kate M. Pingolt Attorneys for Petitioner Alex Sink Florida Department of Financial Services 200 E. Gaines St. Tallahassee, FL 32399-4247 (850) 413-3010 Fax: (850) 413-3029

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following signals and abbreviations will be used in this Initial Brief: Petitioner Chief Financial Officer Alex Sink will be referred to as "CFO Sink." Any other Petitioner will be referred to as "Petitioner" and his or her name and title. Respondents Robert M. Ervin and Davisson F. Dunlap, Jr., will be referred to collectively as "the Plaintiffs."

All references to the Record On Appeal will be signaled by "R-" in parentheses followed by the page number or numbers shown on the Index to the Record On Appeal for the document to which reference is made. Because the transcript of the November 18, 2009, injunction hearing was not separately numbered in the Record On Appeal, references to that transcript will be signaled by "R-TR-" in parentheses followed by the page number of the transcript to which reference is made. A copy of Defendants' Exhibit 1, admitted into evidence at the November 18, 2009, hearing, is attached as Appendix 1. No other document is included in the Appendix.

Unless otherwise indicated, all references to Florida Statutes are to Florida Statutes (2009). Reference to the General Appropriations Act is signaled by "GAA."

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS**

This is an appeal from an order of the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County, Florida, rendered on June 4, 2010. The order granted a summary judgment declaring that portions of the State's civil filing fee statutes were unconstitutional and void. This determination directly affects the constitutional responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer as the State's chief fiscal officer and the duties of the office under Chapters 17, 215, and 216, Florida Statutes.

The matter commenced on March 16, 2009, when Robert M. Ervin and Davisson F. Dunlap, Jr., ("the Plaintiffs") filed with the Supreme Court of Florida a petition styled "Application for Writ of Quo Warranto and in the alternative, Writ of Mandamus and in the Alternative Application for Constitutional Writ and all Writs Necessary to Enjoin Respondents from Engaging in Continuing Unconstitutional Ultra Vires Actions" ("the Application"). (R-17-65) The Application named as Respondents a panoply of State officers and entities, including the entire Florida Legislature; the President of the Senate; the Speaker of the House; the Florida Cabinet and all its members individually, including Governor Charlie Crist, Attorney General Bill McCollum, Chief Financial Officer Alex Sink, and Commissioner of Agriculture Charles Bronson; the Florida Clerks of Court Operation Corporation ("FCCOC") and its entire Executive Council ; the Florida Association of Court Clerks, Inc.("FACC"); the Department of Revenue; and a party that was not *sui juris*, the Clerk of the Courts Trust Fund. (R-17-18). The Application sought the issuance of writs against all respondents (including the trust fund) "to enjoin them from engaging in continuing ultra vires unconstitutional actions" and a declaration that the court-related funding statutes for clerks of court through the FCCOC were unconstitutional because filing fees paid by the Plaintiffs were being "ministerially diverted" to the General Revenue Fund and therefore denied them access to courts by denying them "expected court services." (R-33-61).

The Supreme Court did not pass on the merits of the Application. By order entered April 8, 2009, the Court transferred the Application to the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County, Florida, for further proceedings. (R- 15-16). On May 4, 2009, Circuit Judge Frank E. Sheffield of the Second Judicial Circuit issued an alternative Writ of Quo Warranto to the Respondents directing them to show cause why the relief requested in the Application should not be granted. On May 20, 2009, separate responses to the alternative writ were filed by CFO Sink, the FACC, Inc., and the FCCOC; the Attorney General filed a response on behalf of all other State respondents. (R-107-249). CFO Sink moved to discharge the writ, alleging that the Application contained no allegations that she had done anything sounding in quo warranto;

alleging that the Application was actually seeking declaratory relief; and suggesting that pending changes in law with respect to clerk of court budgets would moot the claims of the Application as to the alleged unconstitutionality of Sections 28.35-37, Florida Statutes (2008) (R- 201-223).

On June 17, 2009, the Plaintiffs filed a motion seeking leave to file an "Amended Petition for Writ of Quo Warranto and in the Alternative, Writ of Mandamus and in the Alternative Declaratory Judgment;" a copy of a proposed amended petition was attached . (R-264-313). On August 31, 2009, a hearing was held on motions before Judge Sheffield. On September 10, 2009, Judge Sheffield entered an order granting the Plaintiffs leave to file an amended petition. (R-1187-1188). On September 18, 2009, the Plaintiffs filed an amended petition, styled "First Amended Application for Writ of Quo Warranto and in the alternative, Writ of Mandamus and in the Alternative Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief." ("the First Amended Application") (R-1193-1332). (The amended petition attached to the Plaintiffs' original motion was never served on the Defendants.) The First Amended Application dropped several parties previously named as respondents in the Application, including the Florida Legislature and its presiding officers; the FCCOC; and the Florida Association of Court Clerks, Inc. It added as respondents the four members of the Justice Administrative Commission ("the JAC"), both in their capacities as members of the JAC and in

their official capacities as State Attorneys (Jerry Hill and Bradley King) and Public Defenders (Dennis Roberts and Diamond R. Litty). The style of the action thereafter was <u>Ervin et al. v. Crist et al.</u>, although no specific order amending the style was issued.

The First Amended Application no longer sought any relief as to the Florida Legislature, but continued to demand the issuance of extraordinary writs against the respondents, including CFO Sink and the trust fund, as well as against clerks of court who were not parties to the action. (R-1200). The specific relief requested by the First Amended Application was a declaration that Sections 25.241, 27.562, 28.24, 28.241, 34.041, and 35.22, Florida Statutes (2009) were "unconstitutional on their face and as applied" to the Petitioners "as a denial of rights to access the courts guaranteed by Article I, Section 21, denial of the right to adequate funding of the state court system under Article V, Section 14, and denial of the rights listed above in Paragraph 1 as an illegal tax[sic]." Also requested was that the court: "[e]njoin the ultra vires unconstitutional sweep to General Revenue of these court "user fees." The request for relief also included a request for no relief, asking the court to "[e]nter no order prohibiting or limiting the Florida Legislature in any manner whatsoever from lawfully appropriating the "user fees" in its unbridled, unfettered, discretion and ultimate wisdom in the General Appropriations Act (GAA)." (R-1197-1198).

On October 12, 2009, CFO Sink filed a motion to dismiss the First Amended Application, (R- 1342-1356). On October 14, 2009, all other Defendants filed a motion to dismiss that adopted the CFO's motion and arguments. (R- 1357-1359). On October 23, 2009, the Plaintiffs filed a motion styled "Petitioners/Plaintiffs' Motion For A Temporary Injunction And In The Alternative Writ Of Mandamus And/Or Quo Warranto To Prevent Diversion Of Court Filing Fees To General Revenue and Memorandum Of Law In Support." (R-1360-1505). On November 18, 2009, an evidentiary hearing was held before Judge Sheffield at which all three motions were heard. A transcript of the hearing is included separately in the Record On Appeal.

At the hearing, counsel for CFO Sink asserted that there was no basis for a conclusion that filing fee proceeds deposited into the General Revenue Fund were being used for matters other than the administration of justice and asserted that the trial court would have no basis for an injunction against the deposit of filing fee proceeds into the General Revenue Fund without finding the filing fee statutes unconstitutional on their face. (R-TR-6-7). Counsel also indicated that CFO Sink did not contest that money was being collected by clerks of court and transmitted to the Department of Revenue for deposit into the General Revenue Fund. (R-TR-11) At the CFO's request, the trial court took official recognition, based on Defendants' Exhibit 1, a summary of appropriations, of how much money from the

General Revenue Fund was appropriated in the 2009-2010 GAA, Chapter 2009-81, Laws of Florida, to support the administration of justice: for Justice Administration: \$630 million; and for the Judicial Branch: \$135 million; for a grand total of \$765 million. (R-TR-110-113; 126-127; Appendix, at 1.)

No injunction was ordered from the bench. No order granting or denying the requested injunction was ever issued. On December 9, 2009, CFO, in accordance with leave granted on the record at the evidentiary hearing of November 18, 2009, filed with the court a copy of the Executive Summary of the November 16, 2009, Article V Revenue Estimating Conference and a tabulation of the estimates produced by the Conference showing that for FY 2009-2010, the Conference estimated that a total of \$200.6 million dollars would be received by the General Revenue Fund from court-related revenues (R- 1542); and that no money would be transferred to the General Revenue Fund from the Clerks of the Court Trust Fund. (R-1542). See Defendant's Exhibit 3 (R-1533-1542).

By order dated December 8, 2009, Judge Sheffield dismissed Petitioners' First Amended Application's counts seeking writs of quo warranto and mandamus against the Respondents with leave to amend. No subsequent amended writ petition was ever filed. The motions to dismiss of the Respondents were denied as to the declaratory judgment counts of the First Amended Application, and the Respondents were ordered to answer these counts within 20 days. (R- 1543). On

December 28, 2009, CFO Sink filed "Defendant Chief Financial Officer Sink's Answer to Plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint for Declaratory Judgment." (R-1544-1554). On the same day, an Answer for all Defendants other than CFO Sink was also filed. (R- 1555-1562).

On March 9, 2010, Plaintiffs filed a 101 page Motion for Summary Judgment. (R-1586-1687). The motion was accompanied by an appendix of 725 pages. (R-1688-2413). By Notice of Hearing dated March 22, 2010, a hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment before Judge Sheffield was set for April 19, 2010. On April 15, 2010, CFO Sink filed her Response in Opposition to Plaintiffs Motion for Summary Judgment. (R-2414-2431). On April 19, 2010, a Notice of Adoption of the CFO's Response was filed on behalf of all other Defendants. (R-2432-2433).

A hearing was held on the Motion for Summary Judgment on April 19, 2010. No transcript was taken of the hearing. On June 4, 2010, Judge Sheffield entered his Order Granting Summary Judgment. (R-2434-2449).

On June 4, 2010, CFO Sink filed a Notice of Appeal of the Order Granting Summary Judgment. (R-2468-2486). This appeal was docketed as First DCA Case No. 10-2978. That same day, a Notice of Appeal of the order was also filed on behalf of all other Defendants. (R-2450-2467). This appeal was separately

docketed as First DCA Case No. 10-2972. By motion filed June 11, 2010, CFO Sink moved to consolidate both appeals before the District Court of Appeal.

By motion served June 10, 2010, the Plaintiffs moved the District Court to transfer the appeal in Case No. 10-2972 to the Supreme Court of Florida. Also on that date, Plaintiffs served a motion styled "Suggestion By Appellees for the Court to certify the Issues and Exercise "Pass Through" Jurisdiction." By companion orders dated July 7, 2010, the District Court certified that both appeals required immediate resolution by the Supreme Court of Florida. Plaintiffs' motion was denied. The motion to consolidate and other motions were deferred to the Supreme Court in the event it accepted jurisdiction of the appeals.

By Order dated July 22, 2010, this Court accepted jurisdiction, consolidated both appeals for all appellate purposes, and ordered a briefing schedule. This appeal ensued.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The order on review ignored the existence of disputed issues of material fact. It is settled that the merest possibility of the existence of a genuine issue of material fact precludes summary judgment. The order on review is based on an unsupported factual predicate that was disputed categorically by the Respondents: that any monies deposited into the General Revenue Fund of the State Treasury will not be used, are not being used, and cannot ever be used to support the administration of justice in Florida. The order on review also rejected the existence of a dispute concerning the size and source of the amount of appropriations made from General Revenue in support of the administration of justice by the FY2009-2010 GAA, erroneously presuming that all such funds were spent on "unrelated governmental activities."

Since 1977, Section 28.241, Florida Statutes, has continuously required that a portion of each civil filing fee be deposited into the General Revenue Fund. The Court has never issued an opinion criticizing, let alone invalidating, this requirement. No provision of the Florida Constitution prohibits the Legislature from requiring the deposit of some or all of the proceeds of civil filing fees into the General Revenue Fund of the State Treasury.

The order on review errs by treating where in the State Treasury funds are initially deposited as a proxy for the Legislature's ultimate decision of where to

direct the funds via appropriation. Prohibiting the deposit of certain court-related monies in the General Revenue Fund cannot compel the Legislature to fund the administration of justice at an optimal level. If the constitutional evil to be remedied is the underfunding of the state court system, judicial prescription of how the State accounts for its revenues is not an effective method by which to control the size of appropriations for the judicial branch.

Once a dollar is deposited in the State Treasury, it retains no separate identity based upon where it was collected. Money is fungible, and, once commingled, it loses its separate character. The challenged statutes do not designate where money is to be spent and do not in any way prohibit any part of the General Revenue Fund balance from being spent on the costs of the administration of justice today. More is being spent from General Revenue on the costs of the administration of justice than is being taken into the Fund from courthouse collections. Consequently, a set of circumstances exists that demonstrates that the challenged statutes are not facially unconstitutional. Because all the moneys deposited into General Revenue are being used to pay the costs of "the court systems," the order's determination of facial unconstitutionality cannot be sustained as a matter of law.

The order on review errs by declaring the "first \$80" of civil filing fees to be an unconstitutional tax—and then ordering continued collection of the "tax." The

order errs by attempting to sever the requirement to pay \$80 from that which purported renders it unconstitutional: its deposit into General Revenue. If it is not a constitutional violation for the Plaintiffs to pay the challenged \$80 if it is deposited somewhere other than the General Revenue Fund, the underlying issue reduces to this: into what fund of the State Treasury, if any, does the legislature have the constitutional authority to direct some or all of the proceeds of otherwise lawful civil filing fees? The answer to this question in no way depends on whether the Plaintiffs were required to pay a filing fee for "access to court."

The order creates uncertainty by failing to specify into what State Treasury Fund the "first \$80" is to be deposited. Civil filing fees are state funds which are required to be deposited into the State Treasury by law. The order's declaration of a void \$80 "tax" raises the likelihood of lawsuits seeking to obtain refund of the "tax." Millions in refunds would further reduce the availability of funds for the court system and administration of justice.

### ARGUMENT

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is an appeal of a lower tribunal's order granting summary judgment and declaring statutes unconstitutional. The standard of review both for a summary

judgment and for an interpretation of whether a statute is unconstitutional is de

novo. See Fla. Bar v. Greene, 926 So. 2d 1195 (Fla. 2006); Volusia County v.

Aberdeen at Ormond Beach, 760 So. 2d 126 (Fla. 2000); Curd v. Mosaic

Fertilizer, Inc., \_\_So. 2d \_\_, Case No. SC08-1920, slip op. filed June 17, 2010,

(Fla. 2010).

### ARGUMENT I.

## THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY IGNORING DISPOSITIVE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT THAT PRECLUDED THE ENTRY OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE PLAINTIFFS BELOW.

It is axiomatic that summary judgment does not lie unless there is no possibility of any genuine issue of material fact. *See* Cox v. CSX Intermodal, Inc., 732 So. 2d 1092, 1095 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1999). The order on review recognizes this principle, stating at Paragraph 11(R- 2438):

The merest possibility of the existence of a genuine issue of material

fact precludes the entry of summary judgment. <u>Hall v. Talcott</u>, 191 So.2d 40 (Fla.1966); <u>Land Management of Florida, Inc. v. Hilton Pine</u> <u>Island Ltd.</u>, 974 So.2d 532 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008). Notwithstanding its invocation of this principle, however, the order on review fails to honor it. This error, standing alone, vitiates the grant of summary judgment contained in the order on review and mandates reversal of the order by this Court.

In the first paragraph of the CFO's Response in Opposition to summary

judgment below (R-2414-2415), CFO Sink categorically asserted the existence of

disputes of material fact that precluded summary judgment:

[P]laintiffs continue to rely on a supposed "fact" accepted by neither Defendant Sink nor any other of the Defendants: that the mere <u>deposit</u> of court-related revenues into the State Treasury via the statutory General Revenue Fund signifies that these monies are actually being used for purposes other than funding the administration of justice. See [Summary Judgment] Motion at page 36.

The Response in Opposition goes on to assert:

[P]laintiffs ignore that undisputed evidence in the record demonstrates that vastly more money from the General Revenue Fund is appropriated and spent to fund the administration of justice in the State of Florida than the General Revenue Fund receives in deposits civil filing fees. See Defendant Exhibit 1. See also General Appropriations Act, Ch. 2009-81, Laws of Fla. ("the GAA").

In the section of the order on review identified as "Factual Allegations," the lower tribunal incorrectly states at paragraph 9: "The factual response [sic] from the Defendants does not dispute the foregoing facts." (R-2437) Nowhere in the order's curiously titled "Factual Allegations," however, is there an undisputed finding of fact that the mere deposit of funds into the General Revenue Fund renders them unavailable for the support of the administration of justice in Florida. Despite the fact that the order on review contains no express finding that no General Revenue Fund proceeds are (or can be) used to fund the administration of justice, that faulty claim is a linchpin of the order's incorrect rationale.

For example, Paragraph 13 of the order on review states, as if announcing an undisputed fact: "[t]here is no targeted evil or other legitimate reason for the Legislature to direct the first \$80 from civil filing fees to be sent to the General Revenue Fund to be spent on non-court-related services." (R-2444). The order goes on to state again that "the funds sent to General Revenue are not being used to provide access to courts, or being spent on court-related services." *Id*. Finally, it states, as if factual and undisputed: "The Legislature is simply taxing one group of citizens and spending the money on unrelated governmental activities, which is illegal and unconstitutional." (R-2444).

Paragraph 14 of the order on review contains these additional unsupported factual assertions:

It is *equally clear* that monies received from filing fees *are not* being used for court-related functions. In 2008 the Legislature appropriated over \$50 million of the money generated from increased filing fees in civil actions to the Department of Corrections for the operation of prisons, which is not part of the judicial branch of government.

\*\*\*

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