SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC10-1317 Lower Tribunal No(s): 1D10-2972, 2009-CA-001386

CHARLIE CRIST, ET AL.

vs. ROBERT M. ERVIN ET AL.

CASE NO.: SC10-1319 Lower Tribunal No(s): 1D10-2978, 2009-CA-001386

ALEX SINK, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, ETC. Appellant(s)

vs. ROBERT M. ERVIN, ET AL.

Appellee(s)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

Sidney L. Matthew, Esquire Florida Bar ID No. 193496 SIDNEY L. MATTHEW, P.A. P.O. Box 1754 Tallahassee, FL 32302 Telephone (850) 224-7887 Facsimile (850) 681-3122 Email: <u>sidmatthew@earthlink.net</u> Attorney for Appellees

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Summary Judgment entered by the Trial Court properly found that the subject civil action filing fee statutes unlawfully impinge on fundamental rights including access to courts, court funding, due process, equal protection and jury trial, and are unconstitutional on their face and as applied to the Plaintiffs. The purpose of the filing fee statutes is to fund the costs of operating the state clerks of court offices with "adequate and appropriate filing fees for judicial proceedings". Art. V, §14(b), Fla. Constit. The statutory earmarking and diversion of the first \$80 of these user fees to general revenue is an illegal tax that significantly interferes with the court related functions of the offices of the clerks and their ability to provide access to the courts.

The earmarked filing fee statutes fail to pass the applicable "rational basis" and "strict scrutiny" tests for constitutionality. The subject statutes operate to unlawfully assess and collect surplus general revenue under the guise of user fees. On their face, the statutes earmark the first \$80 of the filing fees assessed and collected by the clerks of court and require their ministerial diversion into The General Revenue Fund. When the earmarked fees are collected by the clerks, they are deposited in the clerks bank account, transferred to the Department of Revenue (DOR) bank account, transferred to the General Revenue bank account, and then subjected to the legislative general appropriations process whereby the earmarked fees may be reappropriated back to the state court system.

Because the filing fees are desperately needed by the clerks of court to operate their offices, there is no rational basis for these fees to be diverted and delayed from immediately paying the costs of operating the state court system. The interference with the efficient operation of the clerks offices results in a denial of fundamental rights of access to courts and court funding. The courts in Florida are underfunded. There is no compelling state interest in "churning" the filing fees through multiple state bank accounts and subjecting the filing fees to endure the general appropriations process of the legislature before being re-appropriated for subsequent use by the clerks to pay their bills. It is less intrusive on the fundamental rights of access to courts and court funding if the filing fees are not diverted to general revenue but are immediately available to pay the costs of the administration of justice. Even if the earmarked filing fee statutes do not expressly require the Legislature to re-appropriate the fees back to the state court system, the statutes would still be facially unconstitutional. These earmark statutes act to unlawfully tax litigants while providing a windfall of general revenue to other citizens who are not users of the court system.

The trial court also properly severed the unconstitutional statutory provisions diverting the earmarked filing fees to General Revenue from the lawful provisions

providing for the assessment and collection of the filing fees. The trial court's injunction prohibited only the unlawful diversion of the earmarked filing fees to General Revenue. Therefore, the injunction was specifically limited, narrowly tailored, and did not infringe upon the Legislature's authority to fix appropriations. The summary judgment should properly be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE FILING FEE STATUTES IS PURELY A LEGAL ISSUE PROPERLY DISPOSED OF BY SUMMARY JUDGMENT

A facial constitutional challenge asserts that the statute cannot be constitutionally applied to any factual situation. <u>Voce v. State</u>, 457 So.2d 541 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). A facial challenge considers only the text of the statute, not its application to a particular set of circumstances, and the challenger must demonstrate that the statute's provisions pose a present total and fatal conflict with applicable constitutional standards. <u>Cashatt v State</u>, 873 So.2d 430, 434 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). Accordingly, the facts which arise in a particular case are irrelevant to a determination of the facial constitutional validity of a statute. <u>Department of Revenue v. Florida Home Builders Association</u>, 564 So.2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), <u>Sims v State</u>, 510 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

In the case at bar, the trial court properly determined upon the record before him that the issue involving the facial constitutionality of the subject statutes was purely an issue of law. Specifically, the trial court found that the Appellants' supposed factual issue (that the state funds the court system with more than it receives from the clerk) did not alter the pure question of law before him. The Appellants concede the Final Summary Judgment "makes plain that it is the mere deposit of funds into the General Revenue Fund that the lower tribunal deems to be impermissible as a matter of law." (CFO brief at p15) Since that is the pith of the legal issue, the Appellants conjectured factual dispute is not pertinent to a consideration of facial constitutionality of the statutes. The reason for this is clear. Since the mere deposit of funds into the General Revenue Fund constitutes an illegal tax, the Legislature cannot "cure" this invasion of rights by subsequent proof that all of these illegal taxes are ultimately appropriated at the end of the year back into the state court system to pay for the essential costs of the administration of justice. Nor can the Legislature "cure" the imposition of these illegal taxes by showing that the "State funds the court system with more than it receives from the Even though it is not critical to a determination of the facial clerk." constitutionality of the statutes, it is undisputed that the courts in Florida are underfunded. Therefore, it must also be undisputed that the Legislature has

underfunded the Florida court system even if it has appropriated more general revenue than it received from the earmarked filing fees.

Contrary to the suggestion of CFO Sink, there are no factual issues in the summary judgment. The only case cited by Appellant CFO, Cox v. CSX Intermodal, Inc., 732 So.2d 1092 (Fla.1st DCA 1999), is a breach of contract case that does not involve the facial constitutionality of a statute. Appellant admits the filing fee statutes earmarking the first \$80 to be deposited in the General Revenue Fund were properly enacted. (AE Appx. Tabs C, D) Appellant admits that the statutes permit no discretion whatsoever concerning the duty to remit these earmarked filing fees to the General Revenue Fund. Appellant also admits that the duty of the clerks and the Department of Revenue (DOR) to divert these monies to general revenue is totally ministerial. Finally, Appellant admits that the filing fees have actually been deposited by the clerks and DOR into the General Revenue Fund pursuant to the statutes. Appellant did not object when the trial court took judicial notice that "the courts are underfunded in Florida." (R.-Vol. 13 at T-109) It is also clear that the Appellees paid the filing fees in the instant case which were subject to the earmarked statutes under review. Therefore, the trial court had a well-developed record from which he could determine that the necessary facts were crystallized upon which to declare the filing fee statutes facially unconstitutional. While it may be possible to conceive of a case involving the

facial constitutionality of a statute which presents mixed questions of fact and law, this case is not the one. Compare <u>State Department of Health and Rehabilitative</u> <u>Services v. Cox</u>, 627 So.2d 1210, 1212 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993) (There was "virtually no evidence in the record" which was "very limited") and <u>Glendale Federal</u> <u>Savings and Loan v. State Department of Insurance</u>, 485 So.2d 1321, 1324 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) ("The rule followed by the Florida courts, as we interpret prior decisions, is that the question of the constitutionality of a statute is an issue of law, or of mixed fact and law, depending upon the nature of the statute brought into question and the scope of its threatened operation as against the party attacking the statute." citing <u>Lykes Bros.,Inc v. Board of Com'rs of Everglades Drainage Dist.</u>, 41 So.2d 898 (Fla. 1949).

Appellants' contention that it must be presumed the Legislature returns all of the earmarked filing fees back into the state court system is not only impertinent but also speculative. Two examples explain why. First, Florida enacted a constitutional amendment approving a State Lottery whose proceeds were intended to supplement education funding in the state. Did the Legislature appropriate the same General Revenue to education after the Lottery became operational? The answer is no. Instead, the Legislature underfunded the education system and used the General Revenue intended to supplement education elsewhere. Thereafter, Florida amended the Constitution to compel the Legislature to do what the people

intended initially. (Article X, Section 15(c)(1): "On the effective date of this amendment, the lotteries shall be known as the FLORIDA EDUCATION LOTTERIES. Net proceeds derived from the lotteries, shall be deposited to a state trust fund, to be designated THE STATE EDUCATION LOTTERIES TRUST FUND, to be appropriated by the Legislature.") The second example showing that presumptions concerning the Legislature's expected behavior are uncertain involves the Lawton Chiles Endowment Fund created in 1999 whose earnings were earmarked to help fund specific programs in health and human services. Instead, the FY2009 annual budget passed in June 2008 transferred \$354,437,854 in principal from the fund to the Department of Financial Services Tobacco Settlement Clearing Trust Fund to pay for other appropriations. Further, Chapter 2010-152, Laws of Florida (H.B. No. 5001) authorized up to \$1 billion to be transferred from the fund to cover a budget deficit under certain conditions.

These examples demonstrate that despite the infinite wisdom attributed to the Legislature it cannot be presumed the Legislature will always necessarily repatriate the earmarked filing fees back to the state court system at the end of the fiscal year. The statutes certainly don't mandate much action. Furthermore, it is clear that any filing fees, once collected, cannot be used for General Revenue purposes in the first instance. <u>See In Re: Advisory Opinion to the Governor</u>, 509 So.2d 292, 303 (Fla. 1987)

II. THE STATUTES EARMARKING FILING FEES FOR DEPOSIT INTO THE GENERAL REVENUE FUND ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON THEIR FACE

In Florida, the right of access to courts is "fundamental" in nature and guaranteed by Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution which provides: "The Courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay." The origin of Florida's rights of access to the courts is rooted in Chapter Forty of the Magna Carta written in 1215 and exported to the American colonies as part of the common law of England. See Article I, Section 21: Access to Courts in Florida, 5 Fla. St. U. Law Rev. 871,873 (1977). The common law of England and the statutes in aid thereof, down to the 4th year of James I, were adopted by the Legislature of Florida on September 2, 1822 to take effect in East Florida on October 1, 1822 (pursuant to the Laws of 1822, p. 53). See Hart v. Bostwick, 14 Fla. 162,173 (1872). The common and statute laws of England were again enacted by the Legislature on June 29, 1823. Beginning with the Florida Constitution of 1838, this fundamental, self executing, mandatory and all-encompassing right has been embodied in every Florida Constitution for over 173 years. §2.01, Florida Statutes. If the statutes under review are given their plain meaning, they were intended to impose "user fees" upon litigants as a condition of lodging a civil action in the state courts.

Ordinarily, a statute is presumed to be constitutional and the challenging party has the burden of proof to demonstrate otherwise. However, whereas here, when statutes impinge on certain fundamental rights, just the opposite is the case. The act is judged under an enhanced standard and is presumptively unconstitutional unless proven valid by the state. See North Florida Women's Health and Counseling Services, Inc. v. State, 866 So.2d 612, 626 (Fla. 2003). Therefore, since the earmarked filing fee statutes under review impinge upon the fundamental right of access to courts, the burden of proof shifts to the state to justify the intrusion. Chiles v. State Employees Guild, 734 So.2d 1030, 1033 (Fla. 1999) (right of privacy); Winfield v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, Department of Business Regulation, 477 So.2d 544, 547 (Fla. 1985) (right of privacy). Furthermore, under the court's decision in Mitchell v. Moore, 786 So.2d 521,527-528 (Fla. 2001), the state must show that the subject earmarked filing fee statutes pass both the "strict scrutiny" and "rational basis" tests for Under strict scrutiny, where the legislation impinges on constitutionality. fundamental rights, the law is presumptively unconstitutional and the burden of proof is on the state to prove that the legislation furthers a compelling state interest through the least intrusive means. In re T.W., 551 So.2d 1186, 1193 (Fla. 1989); Winfield v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, Department of Business Regulation, 477 So.2d 544, 547 (Fla. 1985). To withstand a rational basis review,

the law must bear some rational relationship to legitimate state purposes. <u>Pinellas</u> <u>v. Cedars of Lebanon Hospital Corporation</u>, 403 So.2d 365, 367 (Fla. 1981).

The trial court properly found that the plain language of the statutes in question impose an adverse impact upon the fundamental rights of access to the courts and there is no targeted evil or other legitimate reason for the Legislature to earmark the first \$80 of a civil action filing fee for deposit in the General Revenue Fund. The trial court further found that the intent and purpose of the statutes is to impose a reasonable "user fee" upon litigants with which to fund the Court System. If not exorbitant and reasonably related to the government service provided, user fees are presumptively valid. State v. City of Port Orange, 650 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1994) ("User fees are charges based upon the proprietary right of the governing body permitting the use of the instrumentability involved. Such fees share common traits that distinguish them from taxes; they are charged in exchange for a particular government service which benefits the party paying the fee in a manner not shared by other members of society and they are paid by choice, in that the party paying the fee has the option not utilizing the governmental service and therefore avoiding the charge"); Rainey v. Rainey, 38 So.2d 60, 61 (Fla. 1948) (exorbitant special master fees). However, the trial court found that the diversion of earmarked filing fees to the General Revenue Fund was not rationally related to the statutes purpose of funding the court system. This Court has previously

confirmed that any fees not directly related to the administration of justice cannot be used for General Revenue purposes. <u>In re: Advisory Opinion to the Governor</u>, 509 So.2d 292, 303 (Fla. 1987)

In fact, the trial court found that by not spending the earmarked filing fees on court related services at the outset, it must be concluded that these monies were not reasonably necessary to provide access to court services at all. In making this determination, the trial court properly relied upon this Court's prior access to court decisions in <u>Flood v. State ex rel Homeland Company</u>, 95 Fla. 1003, 117 So. 385 (1928) and <u>Farrabee v. Board of Trustees</u>, Lee County Law Library, 254 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1971). These decisions reaffirm the fundamental nature of the constitutional rights of access to the courts.

Appellants offer several arguments in response to the trial court's finding of facial invalidity of the earmarked filing fee statutes. First, Appellants claim that <u>Flood</u> and <u>Farrabee</u> only involved statutes which diverted court filing fees into the county "public treasury", whereas the case at bar involves deposit into state coffers. However, regardless of whether the filing fees are diverted into county or state general revenue accounts, the constitutional principles applicable to access to courts is the same. Appellants next contend that <u>Flood</u> and <u>Farrabee</u> are obsolete and should be overruled. Actually, far from being obsolete, the <u>Flood</u> and <u>Farrabee</u> decisions have been widely accepted and cited with approval not only in

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